# MEAN FIELD FIRST ORDER OPTIMALITY CONDITION UNDER LOW REGULARITY OF CONTROLS

### STEFANO ALMI, RICCARDO DURASTANTI, AND FRANCESCO SOLOMBRINO

ABSTRACT. We show that mean field optimal controls satisfy a first order optimality condition (at a.e. time) without any a priori requirement on their spatial regularity. This principle is obtained by a careful limit procedure of the Pontryagin maximum principle for finite particle systems. In particular, our result applies to the case of mean field selective optimal control problems for multipopulation and replicator dynamics.

### CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
2. Preliminaries and notation	3
3. Assumptions and main results	7
3.1. Comparison with the Pontryagin Maximum Principle for regular controls	12
4. Proof of the results	14
5. Generalization to optimal control problems with convex state space	21
5.1. Control of multi-population systems	22
5.2. Entropy regularized replicator dynamics	23
Acknowledgements	24
References	24

### 1. INTRODUCTION

The Pontryagin Maximum Principle (PMP) has been a cornerstone in the optimal control theory, providing necessary conditions for the optimality of control trajectories in single-agent systems (see, e.g., [17]). It converts an (integral) optimal control problem into a pointwise maximization of an Hamiltonian function. The latter also drives the forward-backward flow of optimal trajectories in the product space of states and co-states, respectively. As the complexity of systems increases, particularly in the context of multiagent systems, both the control problem and the traditional PMP framework become less tractable. In recent years, the Mean Field Pontryagin Maximum Principle (MF-PMP) has emerged as a powerful tool for addressing optimal control in large-scale systems,

<sup>(</sup>Stefano Almi) Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni "R. Caccioppoli", Università di Napoli Federico II, via Cintia, 80126 Napoli, Italy

<sup>(</sup>Riccardo Durastanti) DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA E APPLICAZIONI "R. CACCIOPPOLI", UNI-VERSITÀ DI NAPOLI FEDERICO II, VIA CINTIA, 80126 NAPOLI, ITALY

<sup>(</sup>Francesco Solombrino) DIPARTIMENTO DI SCIENZE E TECNOLOGIE BIOLOGICHE ED AMBIENTALI, UNIVERSITÀ DEL SALENTO, VIA LECCE-MONTERONI, 73047 LECCE, ITALY

E-mail addresses: stefano.almi@unina.it, riccardo.durastanti@unina.it,

francesco.solombrino@unisalento.it.

<sup>2020</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 30L99, 49J20, 49K20, 49Q22, 58E30, 35Q93, 49N80, 93A16. Key words and phrases. Mean-Field Optimal Control, Pontryagin Maximum Principle, Agent-based systems, Low-regularity of controls, replicator dynamics.

characterized by a large number of interacting agents. We refer to [2, 11–14, 16, 18, 19] for a (non-exhaustive) list of references on the topic.

The mean field optimal control problem one aims to solve is usually formulated as

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{w}} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} L(\mu_t) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_t \,\mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\boldsymbol{w}(t,x)) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_t \,\mathrm{d}t \,, \tag{1.1}$$

subject to the following continuity equation

$$\partial_t \mu_t + \operatorname{div} ((\boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{w}) \mu_t) = 0, \qquad (1.2)$$

describing the evolution of the agents' distribution  $\mu_t \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , driven by a velocity field  $\boldsymbol{v}$  and the additional control drift  $\boldsymbol{w}$ . This can be seen as a limit control problem as the number of agents tends to infinity. A rigorous derivation of (1.1)-(1.2) from a finite-particle control problem was obtained via  $\Gamma$ -convergence in [1, 20, 23]. In all these contributions, the superposition principle (cf. [5-7, 24, 29]) is a key *trait-d'union* between the discrete and the continuous state equation, as the competitors in the limit problem are recovered as a suitable limit (in a measure theoretical sense) of discrete controls. As no *a priori* regularity constraints are imposed for the finite-particle problem, meanfield optimal controls may not enjoy any continuity property with respect to the space variable x. It is also well-known (see [23]) that in general one must expect the optimal controls obtained by this procedure to be indeed closed-loop.

When coming to the derivation of first-order optimality conditions for problem (1.1)–(1.2), the possible lack of regularity creates a gap with the available results provided by recent literature [14, 16, 18]. In such contributions, as it will also happen in our paper, optimality conditions are formulated by coupling: *(i)* a maximality condition on the Hamiltonian function in the space of admissible controls to be satisfied at (almost) every time t; *(ii)* a forward-backward flow in the product space of states and co-states, usually seen as probability measures on the phase space.

Such formulation requires the development of local differentiability notions in Wasserstein spaces (see [2, 14, 16]). The proofs furthermore make use of an infinite-dimensional generalization of the classical *needle-variation argument*, which strongly relies on a Cauchy-Lipschitz theory for continuity equations of the form (1.2). Indeed, while the equation (1.2) makes sense whenever the velocity  $\boldsymbol{v}$  and control  $\boldsymbol{w}$  are measurable and satisfy some integrability bounds (cf. [6, Chapter 8]), uniqueness and stability properties are the outcome of additional regularity properties on the control drift field. Furthermore, the formulation of the adjoint equation for the case of closed-loop controls features spatial derivatives of the control field. Therefore, such formulations are in general not feasible for mean-field optimal control problems. On the one hand, the aim of a control law designed for the kinetic model is to provide a strategy which can be in turn applied – either exactly or approximately – to the corresponding finite-dimensional systems. On the other hand, the MF-PMP requires additional regularity constraints, which are rather artificial for optimal controls, restricting their range of applicability. A remarkable result in this sense is the one in [15], where uniform Lipschitz bounds along sequences of approximations by empirical measures are obtained at the price of some reasonable, though rather strong assumptions on the Lagrangian and the control cost of the problem.

The aim of the present paper is instead to recover a first-order necessary condition which runs in parallel to the variational limit procedure from the discretized to the kinetic problem, taking into account the possible lack of regularity of minimizers in the continuum setting. Such condition is obtained as limit of a discretized PMP, under essentially the same assumptions that guarantee the variational convergence to a meanfield control problem, in the sense of [1, 20, 23]. This generalizes a similar point of view taken in [11], where, however, a discrete subset of leaders was fixed from the beginning, and the control laws were open-loop and only acting on the leaders' population. The condition we recover is similar to the one obtained via needle variation, as it involves the pointwise maximization of an Hamiltonian functional coupled to an evolution equation for state and co-state variables. The main difference lays in the absence of spatial derivatives of the optimal control field, which always appear in the needle variation approach. Similar to [11], the derivation of optimality conditions relies on some continuity properties of Wasserstein differentials with respect to the convergence at hand. A crucial result of our analysis, which allows us to overcome the discrete setting of [11], is a representation result for the limit of the discrete control measures associated to the minimizers and the corresponding trajectories. We namely show (see Lemma 4.3) that the Radon-Nykodim derivative of the limit control density (denoted by  $\rho_t$  in the statement) with respect to the density  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_t$  in the product space of positions x and co-states r is independent of r and agrees with the optimal control w(t, x). The proof makes use of the Disintegration theorem, of a semicontinuity result for superlinear convex functionals on measures which was also instrumental to the results in [23] and [1], and only requires strict convexity of the control cost  $\phi$  and fair differentiability assumptions on the Lagrangian cost L.

The main result of our paper (cf. Theorem 3.5) also encompasses some useful additional features in modeling. For instance, as in [1], we can allow the policy maker for a *selective* type of control in a system of the type

$$\partial_t \mu_t + \operatorname{div}((\boldsymbol{v} + h\boldsymbol{w})\mu_t) = 0,$$

where  $h \ge 0$  is a non-negative activation function selecting the set of agents targeted by the decision of the policy maker, depending on their state and, possibly, on the global state of the system. Furthermore, as we show in Section 5, the results can be extended to multi-populations setting with time-evolving labels according to a distribution  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}(U)$ which may account, for instance, for a different degree of influence of the single agent, as in [1,4,5,10,22,28,30]. For this, one needs to consider suitable notions of differentiability for functions defined on convex subsets of Banach spaces and on measure defined on these convex subsets, introduced in [5] and [2] respectively.

### 2. Preliminaries and notation

We consider a separable Radon metric space (X, d). When  $X = \mathbb{R}^d$   $(d \ge 1)$  we adopt the distance induced by the Euclidean norm  $|\cdot|$ . For R > 0 we define  $B_R(x) := \{\tilde{x} \in X : d(\tilde{x}, x) \le R\}$ . In the Euclidean setting we define  $B_R := B_R(0)$  and by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  we denote the Euclidean scalar product. For a vector  $\mathbf{x}^N \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^N$  we indicate with  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}^d$  its *i*-th component (for initial data  $\mathbf{x}_0^N \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^N$  we use  $\mathbf{x}_{0,i}^N \in \mathbb{R}^d$  respectively). For a vector  $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we indicate with  $v^i \in \mathbb{R}$  its *i*-th component and for any pair of vectors  $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we represent with  $v \otimes w \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  the matrix with component  $v^i w^j$  at the *i*-th row and *j*-th column for every  $i, j = 1, \ldots, d$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{L}$  the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

We denote by  $\mathcal{M}(X)$  the space of Borel measures with bounded total variation and by  $\mathcal{P}(X)$  the family of all Borel probability measures on X. For  $p \ge 1$  we further consider

$$\mathcal{P}_p(X) := \left\{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}(X) : \int_X d(x, \bar{x})^p \mathrm{d}\mu(x) < +\infty \text{ for some } \bar{x} \in X \right\}$$

and  $\mathcal{P}_c(X)$  the subset of  $\mathcal{P}(X)$  of measures with compact support in X recalling that the support is the closed set

 $\operatorname{supp}(\mu) = \{ x \in X : \mu(V) > 0 \text{ for each neighborhood } V \text{ of } x \}.$ 

If X is contained in some Banach space Z, we define the p momentum of  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(X)$  as

$$m_p(\mu) := \left( \int_X \|x\|_Z^p \,\mathrm{d}\mu(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \qquad \text{for } p \ge 1$$

Let  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  be separable Radon metric spaces, we define for every  $\mu_1 \in \mathcal{P}(X_1)$  and  $\mu_2 \in \mathcal{P}(X_2)$  the transport plans with marginals  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$ 

$$\Gamma(\mu_1,\mu_2) := \left\{ \boldsymbol{\gamma} \in \mathcal{P}(X_1 \times X_2) : \pi^i_{\#} \boldsymbol{\gamma} = \mu_i \text{ for } i = 1,2 \right\},\$$

where  $\pi^i \colon X_1 \times X_2 \to X_i$  is the projection on  $X_i$  and  $\pi^i_{\#} \gamma \in \mathcal{P}(X_i)$  is the pushforward of  $\gamma$  through  $\pi^i$ . Note that  $\Gamma(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  is a non-empty and compact subset of  $\mathcal{P}(X_1 \times X_2)$ (see Remark 5.2.3 of [6]). We define the *p*-Wasserstein distance between two probability measures  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  in  $\mathcal{P}_p(X)$  by

$$W_p^p(\mu_1,\mu_2) = \min\left\{\int_{X\times X} d(x_1,x_2)^p \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma}(x_1,x_2) : \boldsymbol{\gamma}\in\Gamma(\mu_1,\mu_2)\right\}\,.$$

It follows from [6, Proposition 7.15] that  $\mathcal{P}_p(X)$  endowed with the *p*-Wasserstein distance is a separable metric space which is complete if X is complete. We define

$$\mathcal{P}_c(X) := \{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}(X) : \operatorname{supp}(\mu) \text{ is compact in } X \}$$

and

$$\mathcal{P}_b(X) := \{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}(X) : \operatorname{supp}(\mu) \text{ is bounded in } X \}$$

From now on, unless otherwise specified, when we write  $\mathcal{P}_p(X)$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_c(X)$  and  $\mathcal{P}_b(X)$  we mean the separable metric spaces  $(\mathcal{P}_p(X), W_p)$ ,  $(\mathcal{P}_c(X), W_1)$  and  $(\mathcal{P}_b(X), W_1)$  respectively. Moreover, in  $\mathcal{P}_1(X)$ , we consider the subset  $\mathcal{P}^N(X)$  of discrete measures

$$\mathcal{P}^{N}(X) := \left\{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{1}(X) : \exists (x_{1}, \dots, x_{N}) \in X^{N} \text{ such that } \mu = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{x_{i}} \right\} \subset \mathcal{P}_{b}(X).$$

We define the *R*-fattening of the support of a measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_c(X)$  as

$$B_R^{\mu} := \bigcup_{x \in \mathrm{supp}(\mu)} B_R(x).$$

Note that, since  $\mu$  has compact support, if  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(B_R^{\mu})$  then  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_b(X)$ . Moreover, if X is a proper space (for instance a compact space or an Euclidean space), then  $\mathcal{P}_b(X)$  coincides with  $\mathcal{P}_c(X)$ .

In view of the applications of our main result to the replicator dynamics (see Section 5), we give the definition of differentiability with respect to a probability measure in the context of convex subspaces of Banach spaces. From now on let  $(E, \|\cdot\|_E)$  be a separable Banach space, let C be a closed and convex subset of E and let  $E_C$  be the topological closure of the vector subspace  $\{\alpha(c_1 - c_2) : \alpha \in \mathbb{R}, c_1, c_2 \in C\}$ . Let  $A: \mathcal{P}_1(C) \to Y$  be such that  $\mathcal{P}_b(C) \subseteq D(A) := \{\psi \in \mathcal{P}_1(C) : \|A(\psi)\|_Y < +\infty\}$ , with  $(Y, \|\cdot\|_Y)$  a Banach space. We introduce a definition of (strong) local differentiability of A at  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_c(C)$  (see [2, Definition 4.2] and [9, Section 2]).

**Definition 2.1.** A functional  $A: \mathcal{P}_1(C) \to Y$  is (strongly) locally differentiable at  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_c(C)$  if there exists a map  $\nabla_{\psi}A(\mu) \in L^2_{\mu}(C; \mathcal{L}(E_C; Y))$  in Bochner sense such that for every R > 0 and for every  $\nu \in \mathcal{P}(B_R^{\mu})$  it holds

$$A(\nu) - A(\mu) = \int_{C \times C} \nabla_{\psi} A(\mu)(c_1) [c_2 - c_1] d\gamma(c_1, c_2) + o_R(W_{2,\gamma}(\mu, \nu))$$

for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mu, \nu)$ , where  $\lim_{t \searrow 0} \frac{o_R(t)}{t} = 0$  and

$$W_{2,\gamma}^{2}(\mu,\nu) := \int_{C \times C} \|c_{1} - c_{2}\|_{E}^{2} \mathrm{d}\gamma(c_{1},c_{2}),$$

In what follows we deal with systems of N agents. Such agents can be identified by a vector  $(x_1, \ldots, x_N) \in X^N$ . In particular, up to permutation, every N-tuple  $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  can be represented with  $\psi^N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i} \in \mathcal{P}^N(X)$ . This is the meaning whenever we say that the vector  $\boldsymbol{x}$  has a generated measure  $\psi^N$ . We give the following useful definition.

**Definition 2.2.** Let  $F: X \times X^N \to Y$  with X, Y metric spaces. We say that F is symmetric if  $F(x, \sigma(\boldsymbol{x})) = F(x, \boldsymbol{x})$  for every  $x \in X$ , every  $\boldsymbol{x} \in X^N$  and every permutation  $\sigma: X^N \to X^N$ .

It follows that, if  $F : X \times X^N \to Y$  is symmetric, we can uniquely identify  $F(x, \boldsymbol{x})$  with  $F(x, \psi^N)$  (setting  $F(x, \psi^N) := F(x, \boldsymbol{x})$ ) and, as a consequence, we can consider F defined on  $X \times \mathcal{P}^N(X)$ . On the other hand, if we have a map  $F : X \times \mathcal{P}_1(X) \to Y$  we can always consider the restriction  $F_{|X^N} : X \times X^N \to Y$  (setting  $F_{|X^N}(x, \boldsymbol{x}) := F(x, \psi^N)$ ) which for simplicity of notation we denote again with F (except in the next lemma). Therefore this restriction is symmetric in the sense of Definition 2.2. We will use this identification throughout the paper.

In the case  $X = \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $Y = \mathbb{R}^m$   $(m \ge 1)$ , we give a useful lemma which clarifies as the above identification links the strong local differential of a map F at  $\psi^N$  with the classical notion of differentiability at a point  $\boldsymbol{x} \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^N$  (a related result is contained in [15, Proposition 4]).

**Lemma 2.3.** Let  $F : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be locally differentiable at  $\psi^N$  in the sense of Definition 2.1, where  $\psi^N$  is generated by  $\boldsymbol{x}$  (i.e.  $\psi^N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i}$ ). Then  $F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N} : \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^N \to \mathbb{R}^m$  is differentiable at  $\boldsymbol{x}$  and it holds that

$$\nabla_{\psi} F(x, \psi^N)(x_i) = N \nabla_{x_i} F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}(x, \boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{h=1}^N \nabla_{x_h} F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}(x, \boldsymbol{x}) \qquad \text{for every } i = 1, \dots, N.$$

Moreover, if, for every fixed  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , the map  $\mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \ni (\psi, \tilde{x}) \mapsto \nabla_{\psi} F(x, \psi)(\tilde{x}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  is continuous, then  $F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}(x, \cdot) \in C^1((\mathbb{R}^d)^N; \mathbb{R}^m)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\psi^N$  and  $\tilde{\psi}^N$  be the empirical measures generated by  $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_N) \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^N$  and  $\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}} = (\tilde{x}_1, \ldots, \tilde{x}_N) \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^N$  respectively. Then, by Definition 2.1 choosing  $\boldsymbol{\gamma} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \delta_{(x_j, \tilde{x}_j)} \in \Gamma(\psi^N, \tilde{\psi}^N)$ , and by the identification of  $F(x, \psi^N)$  with a symmetric  $F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}(x, \boldsymbol{x})$  (see Definition 2.2 and the related comment), we have

$$F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}(x,\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}) - F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}(x,\boldsymbol{x}) = F(x,\tilde{\psi}^N) - F(x,\psi^N)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \nabla_{\psi} F(x,\psi^{N})(x') [x''-x'] d\boldsymbol{\gamma}(x',x'') + o_{R} \left( \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} |x'-x''|^{2} d\boldsymbol{\gamma}(x',x'') \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \\ = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \nabla_{\psi} F(x,\psi^{N})(x_{j}) [\tilde{x}_{j}-x_{j}] + \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} o\left( \|\boldsymbol{x}-\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}\|_{(\mathbb{R}^{d})^{N}} \right),$$

for R > 0 fixed and sufficiently large. It follows from the previous equalities and by definition of differentiability in the Euclidean setting that  $F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}$  is differentiable at  $\boldsymbol{x}$  and that

$$\nabla_{x_i} F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}(x, \boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{1}{N} \nabla_{\psi} F(x, \psi^N)(x_i) \qquad \forall i = 1, \dots, N,$$

which gives the first equality in (2.1). The second equality of (2.1) is a direct consequence of the fact that  $F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}$  is symmetric (see Definition 2.2). Finally, using again that

$$W_{2,\boldsymbol{\gamma}}(\psi^N, \tilde{\psi}^N) = rac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \| \boldsymbol{x} - \tilde{\boldsymbol{x}} \|_{(\mathbb{R}^d)^N},$$

and by the identification (2.1) we deduce the last result of the lemma on the continuous differentiability of  $F_{|(\mathbb{R}^d)^N}$ .

Now we recall a result contained in [23] that will be used in what follows. Let  $\phi \colon \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, +\infty]$  be a proper, lower semicontinuous, convex function superlinear at infinity and such that  $\phi(0) = 0$ , let  $\psi \in \mathcal{M}^+(X)$  be a reference measure and  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(X; \mathbb{R}^d)$  be a vector measure. We define the following functional:

$$\Phi(\mu|\psi) := \int_X \phi(\omega(x)) d\psi(x) \quad \text{if } \mu = \omega \psi \ll \psi, \quad \Phi(\mu|\psi) := +\infty \quad \text{if } \mu \not\ll \psi.$$
(2.2)

Then the following hold.

**Lemma 2.4** ([23, Theorem 2.6]). Suppose that we have two sequences  $\psi^n \in \mathcal{M}^+(X)$ ,  $\mu^n \in \mathcal{M}(X; \mathbb{R}^d)$  narrowly converging to  $\psi \in \mathcal{M}^+(X)$  and  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(X; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , respectively. Then

 $\liminf_{n \to +\infty} \Phi(\mu^n | \psi^n) \ge \Phi(\mu | \psi).$ 

In particular, if  $\liminf_{n\to+\infty} \Phi(\mu^n | \psi^n) < +\infty$ , we have  $\mu \ll \psi$ .

Finally, for C closed and convex in a separable Banach space E, we say that  $\psi \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(C))$  is a solution to a continuity equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\psi_t = -\mathrm{div}_x \left( V(x,\psi_t)\psi_t \right) & \text{ in } (0,T], \\ \psi_0 = \hat{\psi}_0, \end{cases}$$

with  $V: C \times \mathcal{P}_1(C) \to E$  if for every  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times E)$  and for every  $t \in [0,T]$  it holds

$$\int_{E} \varphi(t,x) \mathrm{d}\psi_t(x) - \int_{E} \varphi(0,x) \mathrm{d}\hat{\psi}_0(x) = \int_0^t \int_{E} \left( \partial_t \varphi(\tau,x) + \langle \nabla_x \varphi(\tau,x), V(x,\psi_\tau) \rangle_{E^* \times E} \right) \mathrm{d}\psi_\tau(x) \mathrm{d}\tau,$$

where  $\nabla_x$  is the Fréchet differential and the integrals are defined in Bochner sense.

#### 3. Assumptions and main results

Throughout the work we assume the following on controls and initial data of the optimal control problems we will study.

## (HI)

Let K be a compact and convex subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  of admissible controls such that  $0 \in K$  and  $\mathcal{K} := L^1([0,T];K)$ . Let  $\hat{\Psi}_0 \in \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Let  $\mathbf{x}_0^N \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^N$  and  $\Psi_0^N := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{\mathbf{x}_{0,i}^N} \in \mathcal{P}^N(\mathbb{R}^d)$  be such that  $\operatorname{supp}(\Psi_0^N) \subseteq B_1^{\hat{\Psi}_0}$  for every  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\Psi_0^N \rightharpoonup \hat{\Psi}_0$  weakly\* in the sense of measures as  $N \to +\infty$ .

Note that such an approximation for  $\hat{\Psi}_0$  is always possible, see, e.g., [28, Section 3].

For every  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  we introduce the following particle optimal control problem:

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{u}^{N}\in\mathcal{K}^{N}}\left\{\mathcal{F}_{N}^{\mathbf{x}_{0}^{N}}(\boldsymbol{x}^{N},\boldsymbol{u}^{N}):=\int_{0}^{T}L(\psi_{t}^{N})\mathrm{d}t+\int_{0}^{T}\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\phi(u_{i}(t))\mathrm{d}t\right\}$$
(3.1)

where  $\boldsymbol{x}^N \in AC([0,T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^N)$  is the solution to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}x_i(t) = v(x_i(t), \psi_t^N) + h(x_i(t), \psi_t^N)u_i(t) & \text{in } (0, T], \\ x_i(0) = \mathbf{x}_{0,i}^N, \end{cases} \quad \text{for } i = 1, \dots, N, \qquad (3.2)$$

and  $\psi_t^N := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i(t)}$ , thus identifying  $\boldsymbol{x}^N \in AC([0,T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^N)$  with  $\psi^N \in AC([0,T]; \mathcal{P}^N(\mathbb{R}^d))$ . We assume the following for the components v and h of the velocity field.

### **(H***v***)**

Let  $v : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}^d$  be such that:

 $(v_1)$  for every R > 0 there exists  $L_{v,R} > 0$  such that for every  $x_1, x_2 \in B_R$  and every  $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathcal{P}(B_R)$ 

$$|v(x_1,\psi_1) - v(x_2,\psi_2)| \le L_{v,R} (|x_1 - x_2| + W_1(\psi_1,\psi_2));$$

 $(v_2)$  there exists  $M_v > 0$  such that for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and every  $\psi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ 

$$|v(x,\psi)| \le M_v (1+|x|+m_1(\psi));$$

- $(v_3)$  for every  $\psi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the map  $x \mapsto v(x, \psi)$  is differentiable with differential  $\nabla_x v(x, \psi) \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  and the map  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \ni (x, \psi) \mapsto \nabla_x v(x, \psi) \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  is continuous;
- (v<sub>4</sub>) for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  the map  $\psi \mapsto v(x, \psi)$  is locally differentiable w.r.t. Definition 2.1 with differential  $\nabla_{\psi}v(x, \psi)$  and the map  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \ni$  $(x, \psi, \tilde{x}) \mapsto \nabla_{\psi}v(x, \psi)(\tilde{x}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  is continuous.

## (**H***h*)

Let  $h : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  be such that:

- $(h_1)$  h is bounded uniformly with respect to  $\psi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ;
- $(h_2)$  for every R > 0 there exists  $L_{h,R} > 0$  such that for every  $x_1, x_2 \in B_R$  and every  $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathcal{P}(B_R)$

 $|h(x_1,\psi_1) - h(x_2,\psi_2)| \le L_{h,R} \left( |x_1 - x_2| + W_1(\psi_1,\psi_2) \right);$ 

- (h<sub>3</sub>) for every  $\psi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the map  $x \mapsto h(x, \psi)$  is differentiable with differential  $\nabla_x h(x, \psi) \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and the map  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \ni (x, \psi) \mapsto \nabla_x h(x, \psi) \in \mathbb{R}^d$  is continuous;
- $(h_4)$  for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  the map  $\psi \mapsto h(x, \psi)$  is locally differentiable w.r.t. Definition 2.1 with differential  $\nabla_{\psi} h(x, \psi)$  and the map  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \ni$  $(x, \psi, \tilde{x}) \mapsto \nabla_{\psi} h(x, \psi)(\tilde{x}) \in \mathbb{R}^d$  is continuous.

For the cost functions L and  $\phi$  the following assumptions hold.

# $(\mathbf{H}L)$

Let  $L: \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d) \to [0, +\infty)$  be such that:

(L<sub>1</sub>) for every R > 0 there exists  $L_{L,R} > 0$  such that for every  $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathcal{P}(B_R)$  $|L(\psi_1) - L(\psi_2)| < L_{L,R}W_1(\psi_1, \psi_2);$ 

(L<sub>2</sub>) L is locally differentiable w.r.t. Definition 2.1 with differential  $\nabla_{\psi} L(\psi)$  and the map  $\mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \ni (\psi, \tilde{x}) \mapsto \nabla_{\psi} L(\psi)(\tilde{x}) \in \mathbb{R}^d$  is continuous.

 $(\mathbf{H}\phi)$ Let  $\phi : \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, +\infty)$  be strictly convex with  $\phi(0) = 0$ .

Under assumptions (**HI**), (**H**v)-( $v_1, v_2$ ), (**H**h)-( $h_1, h_2$ ), (**H**L)-( $L_1$ ) and (**H** $\phi$ ), by [1, Proposition 2], there exists an optimal trajectory-control pair ( $\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{u}^N$ )  $\in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^N) \times \mathcal{K}^N$  for (3.1)-(3.2). We define the generated pairs

$$\Psi_t^N := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{\mathbf{x}_i(t)} \in \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d), \qquad \Psi^N := \Psi_t^N \otimes \mathcal{L}_{|[0,T]} \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)), \tag{3.3}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}_{t}^{N} := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{u}}_{i}(t) \delta_{\mathbf{x}_{i}(t)} \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^{d}; \mathbb{R}^{d}), \qquad \boldsymbol{\mu}^{N} := \boldsymbol{\mu}_{t}^{N} \otimes \mathcal{L}_{\mid [0,T]} \in \mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{d}; \mathbb{R}^{d}).$$
(3.4)

In addition, by [1, Lemma 1 and Proposition 2] (which are an adaptation of [23, Lemma 6.2]), we know the behavior of  $\Phi$  (defined by (2.2)) when it is evaluated on empirical measures and, in particular, on  $(\Psi_t^N, \boldsymbol{\mu}_t^N)$ . More precisely, we have the following result.

**Lemma 3.1.** Assume  $(\mathbf{H}\phi)$ . Let  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{u}^N) \in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^N) \times \mathcal{K}^N$ , and let  $(\psi^N, \mu^N) \in AC([0, T]; \mathcal{P}^N(\mathbb{R}^d)) \times \mathcal{M}([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)$  be the pair generated by  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{u}^N)$ . Then, for

a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$  we have

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\phi(u_i(t)) \ge \Phi(\mu_t^N|\psi_t^N).$$

Moreover, it holds for a.e.  $t \in [0, T]$  that

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\phi(\mathbf{u}_{i}(t))=\Phi(\boldsymbol{\mu}_{t}^{N}|\Psi_{t}^{N}),$$

where  $(\Psi_t^N, \boldsymbol{\mu}_t^N)$  are defined by (3.3) and (3.4) respectively.

The limit as  $N \to +\infty$  for the optimal control problem (3.1)-(3.2) is established in [1, Corollary 1] (see also [23, Theorem 3.3]). In particular, the following result is proved which we rewrite in a way more suitable for our aim.

**Proposition 3.2.** Assume (**HI**), (**H**v)-( $v_1, v_2$ ), (**H**h)-( $h_1, h_2$ ), (**H**L)-( $L_1$ ) and (**H** $\phi$ ). Then for every optimal trajectory-control pair ( $\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{u}^N$ )  $\in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^N) \times \mathcal{K}^N$  for (3.1)-(3.2) with generated pairs ( $\Psi^N, \boldsymbol{\mu}^N$ ) there exists ( $\Psi, \boldsymbol{\mu}$ ) such that, up to subsequence,  $\Psi^N \to \Psi$  in  $C([0, T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d))$  and  $\boldsymbol{\mu}^N \stackrel{*}{\to} \boldsymbol{\mu}$  in  $\mathcal{M}([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $\boldsymbol{\mu} = \mathbf{w}\Psi$  for some  $\mathbf{w} \in L^1_{\Psi}([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d; K)$ . Moreover the pair ( $\Psi, \mathbf{w}$ ) is a solution to the optimal control problem

$$\min_{\omega \in L^1_{\psi}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d;K)} \left\{ \mathcal{F}^{\hat{\Psi}_0}(\psi,\omega) := \int_0^T L(\psi_t) \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\omega(t,x)) \mathrm{d}\psi_t(x) \mathrm{d}t \right\}$$
(3.5)

where  $\psi \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d))$  is a distributional solution to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\psi_t = -\mathrm{div}_x \left( (v(x,\psi_t) + h(x,\psi_t)\omega(t,x))\psi_t \right) & \text{ in } (0,T], \\ \psi_0 = \hat{\Psi}_0. \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

Finally, it holds that

$$\mathcal{F}^{\hat{\Psi}_0}(\Psi, \mathbf{w}) = \lim_{N \to +\infty} \mathcal{F}_N^{\mathbf{x}_0^N}(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathfrak{u}^N).$$
(3.7)

**Remark 3.3.** Let  $\mathfrak{u}^N$ ,  $\Psi$ ,  $\mu$  and  $\mathbf{w}$  be as in Proposition 3.2. Observe that, by (3.7), and since  $\Psi^N$  converges to  $\Psi$  in  $C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , it follows that

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_0^T \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \phi(\mathbf{u}_i(t)) \mathrm{d}t = \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\mathbf{w}(t,x)) \mathrm{d}\Psi_t(x) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(3.8)

On the other hand for any subinterval  $[t_1, t_2] \subseteq [0, T]$ , thanks to [6, Remark 5.1.6] we have that  $\boldsymbol{\mu}^N$  is narrowly convergent to  $\boldsymbol{\mu}$  in  $\mathcal{M}([t_1, t_2] \times \mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Therefore, applying Lemma 2.4 for  $X = [t_1, t_2] \times \mathbb{R}^d$  and Lemma 3.1, it holds

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\mathbf{w}(t,x)) \mathrm{d}\Psi_t(x) \mathrm{d}t \stackrel{(2.2)}{=} \Phi(\boldsymbol{\mu}|\Psi) \leq \liminf_{N \to +\infty} \Phi(\boldsymbol{\mu}^N|\Psi^N) = \liminf_{N \to +\infty} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \phi(\mathfrak{u}_i(t)) \mathrm{d}t$$

Combining this with (3.8), by standard argument in measure theory, we get

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \phi(\mathfrak{u}_i(t)) dt = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\mathbf{w}(t,x)) d\Psi_t(x) dt.$$
(3.9)

Our aim is to derive a first order optimality condition in the Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ for the optimal control problem (3.5)-(3.6) which is limit as  $N \to +\infty$  of the necessary condition given by the Pontryagin maximum principle for the finite optimal control problem (3.1)-(3.2). With this goal in mind, we introduce the rescaled costate variables (or adjoint variables)  $\mathbf{r}^N = (r_1, \ldots, r_N) \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^N$ . Thanks to the assumptions (Hv)-(Hh)-(HL), and using Lemma 2.3, we can apply the classical Pontryagin maximum principle to the optimal control problem (see also [2, Theorem 3.5]) obtaining the following result.

**Proposition 3.4.** Assume (HI), (Hv), (Hh), (HL) and (H $\phi$ ). Let  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{u}^N) \in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^N) \times$  $\mathcal{K}^N$  be an optimal trajectory-control pair for (3.1)-(3.2). Then there exists a costate curve  $\mathfrak{r}^N \in AC([0,T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^{\check{N}})$  such that  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathfrak{r}^{\check{N}}, \mathfrak{u}^N)$  is a solution to the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{x}_{i}(t) \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} N \nabla_{r_{i}} \mathcal{H}_{N}(\mathbf{x}^{N}(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}^{N}(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}^{N}(t)) \\ -N \nabla_{x_{i}} \mathcal{H}_{N}(\mathbf{x}^{N}(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}^{N}(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}^{N}(t)) \end{pmatrix} & in [0, T), \\ \mathbf{x}_{i}(0) = \mathbf{x}_{0,i}^{N}, & for \ every \ i = 1, \dots, N, \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(T) = 0, & \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}^{N}(t) \in \operatorname*{argmax}_{\mathbf{u}^{N} \in K^{N}} \left\{ \mathcal{H}_{N}(\mathbf{x}^{N}(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}^{N}(t), \mathbf{u}^{N}) \right\} & a.e. \ t \in [0, T], \end{cases}$$

$$(3.10)$$

where the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_N : (\mathbb{R}^d)^N \times (\mathbb{R}^d)^N \times K^N \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{H}_{N}(\boldsymbol{x}^{N},\boldsymbol{r}^{N},\boldsymbol{u}^{N}) := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \langle r_{k}, v(x_{k},\psi^{N}) + h(x_{k},\psi^{N})u_{k} \rangle - L(\psi^{N}) - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \phi(u_{k}). \quad (3.11)$$

In view of the limit as  $N \to +\infty$ , it is useful to explicitly write the velocity field of system (3.10). We have

$$\begin{pmatrix}
N\nabla_{r_{i}}\mathcal{H}_{N}(\mathbf{x}^{N}(t), \mathbf{r}^{N}(t), \mathbf{u}^{N}(t)) \\
-N\nabla_{x_{i}}\mathcal{H}_{N}(\mathbf{x}^{N}(t), \mathbf{r}^{N}(t), \mathbf{u}^{N}(t))
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix}
v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N}) + h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N}) \mathbf{u}_{i}(t) \\
-\nabla_{x}^{T}v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N})[\mathbf{r}_{i}(t)] - \sum_{k=1}^{N} \nabla_{x_{i}}^{T}v(\mathbf{x}_{k}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N})[\mathbf{r}_{k}(t)] + N\nabla_{x_{i}}L(\Psi_{t}^{N})
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix}
0 \\
-(\nabla_{x}h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N}) \otimes \mathbf{u}_{i}(t))[\mathbf{r}_{i}(t)] - \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \nabla_{x_{i}}h(\mathbf{x}_{k}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N}) \otimes \mathbf{u}_{k}(t)\right)[\mathbf{r}_{k}(t)]
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix}
v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N}) \otimes \mathbf{u}_{i}(t) + h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N})\mathbf{u}_{i}(t) \\
-\nabla_{x}^{T}v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N})[\mathbf{r}_{i}(t)] - \sum_{k=1}^{N} \nabla_{x_{i}}^{T}v(\mathbf{x}_{k}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N})[\mathbf{r}_{k}(t)] + N\nabla_{x_{i}}L(\Psi_{t}^{N})
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix}
0 \\
-\nabla_{x}h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N})\langle \mathbf{r}_{i}(t), \mathbf{u}_{i}(t) \rangle - \sum_{k=1}^{N} \nabla_{x_{i}}h(\mathbf{x}_{k}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N})\langle \mathbf{r}_{k}(t), \mathbf{u}_{k}(t) \rangle
\end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.12)

Considering the optimal state-costate-control  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{r}^N, \mathbf{u}^N) \in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^{2d})^N) \times \mathcal{K}^N$ , we introduce the generated pairs  $(\boldsymbol{\nu}^N, \boldsymbol{\rho}^N)$  defined as

$$\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{(\mathbf{x}_i(t), \mathbf{r}_i(t))} \in \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}), \qquad \boldsymbol{\nu}^N := \boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N \otimes \mathcal{L}_{|[0,T]} \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})), \quad (3.13)$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_t^N := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathfrak{u}_i(t) \delta_{(\mathbf{x}_i(t), \mathfrak{r}_i(t))} \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}; \mathbb{R}^d), \qquad \boldsymbol{\rho}^N := \boldsymbol{\rho}_t^N \otimes \mathcal{L}_{|[0,T]} \in \mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}; \mathbb{R}^d).$$
(3.14)

It follows from Lemma 2.3 and (3.12) that we can rewrite the equation in system (3.10) as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{x}_{i}(t) \\ \mathbf{r}_{i}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N}) + h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N}) \mathbf{u}_{i}(t) \\ -\nabla_{x}^{T} v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N})[\mathbf{r}_{i}(t)] - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \nabla_{\psi}^{T} v(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{t}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t))[\tilde{r}] \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{t}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) + \nabla_{\psi} L(\Psi_{t}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t)) \end{pmatrix} \\ + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -\nabla_{x} h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \Psi_{t}^{N}) \langle \mathbf{r}_{i}(t), \mathbf{u}_{i}(t) \rangle - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}}^{0} \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{t}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t)) \langle \tilde{r}, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{t}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \rangle \end{pmatrix}. \quad (3.15)$$

We state our main result, i.e. the limit as  $N \to +\infty$  of the necessary conditions for the finite optimal control problem (3.1)-(3.2) contained in (3.10) which leads to necessary conditions for the Wasserstein optimal control problem (3.5)-(3.6).

**Theorem 3.5.** Assume (**HI**), (**H** $\nu$ ), (**H**h), (**H**L) and (**H** $\phi$ ). For every optimal trajectorycontrol pair ( $\mathbf{x}^{N}, \mathbf{u}^{N}$ )  $\in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^{d})^{N}) \times \mathcal{K}^{N}$  for (3.1)-(3.2), let ( $\Psi, \mathbf{w}$ )  $\in C([0, T]; \mathcal{P}_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})) \times L^{1}_{\Psi}([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{d}; K)$  be the solution to the optimal control problem (3.5)-(3.6) given by Proposition 3.2. Then there exists  $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \operatorname{Lip}([0, T]; \mathcal{P}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  such that, up to subsequence, as  $N \to +\infty$ 

(a)  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N \to \boldsymbol{\nu}$  in  $C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  (where  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N$  is defined by (3.13)); (b)  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N \to \mathbf{w}\boldsymbol{\nu}$  in the narrow topology of  $\mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  (where  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N$  is defined by (3.14)).

Moreover  $\boldsymbol{\nu}$  solves in distributional sense

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \boldsymbol{\nu}_t = -\mathrm{div}_{(x,r)} \left( \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1(x, \boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, x)) \\ \Gamma_2(x, r, \boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, x)) \end{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nu}_t \right) & \text{in } [0, T), \\ \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t = \Psi_t & \text{in } [0, T], \\ \boldsymbol{\nu}_T = \Psi_T \otimes \delta_0 \in \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^{2d}), \end{cases}$$
(3.16)

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1(x, \boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, x)) \\ \Gamma_2(x, r, \boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, x)) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} v(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t) + h(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t) \mathbf{w}(t, x) \\ -\nabla_x^T v(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t)[r] - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \nabla_{\psi}^T v(\tilde{x}, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t)(x)[\tilde{r}] d\boldsymbol{\nu}_t(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) + \nabla_{\psi} L(\pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t)(x) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -\nabla_x h(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t) \langle r, \mathbf{w}(t, x) \rangle - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t)(x) \langle \tilde{r}, \mathbf{w}(t, \tilde{x}) \rangle d\boldsymbol{\nu}_t(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Finally the following maximality condition holds

$$\mathbf{w}(t,\cdot) \in \operatorname*{argmax}_{\omega \in L^1_{\Psi_t}(\mathbb{R}^d;K)} \left\{ \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t,\omega(x)) \right\} \qquad for \ a.e. \ t \in [0,T],$$
(3.17)

where  $\mathcal{H}: \mathcal{P}_b(\mathbb{R}^{2d}) \times \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{H}(\nu,\omega) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle r, v(x, \pi^1_{\#}\nu) + h(x, \pi^1_{\#}\nu)\omega(x)\rangle \mathrm{d}\nu(x, r) - L(\pi^1_{\#}\nu) \qquad (3.18)$$
$$- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \phi(\omega(x)) \mathrm{d}\nu(x, r)$$

if  $\omega \in L^1_{\pi^1_{\#}\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$ , and  $\mathcal{H}(\nu, \omega) = +\infty$  otherwise.

3.1. Comparison with the Pontryagin Maximum Principle for regular controls. The existing literature on first order optimality conditions for mean field optimal control problems as (3.5)-(3.6) (i.e., with closed loop structure of admissible controls) relies on an infinity dimensional version of the classical Pontryagin maximum principle which requires  $C^1$ -differentiability with respect to the space variable of the optimal control. We underline that the closed loop case is the most meaningful in the framework of mean-field optimal control as one can deduce from [23, Section 6]. In this case, we have the following result.

Theorem 3.6 ([16, Theorem 5] or [2, Theorem 4.10]). Under the assumptions of Theorem 3.5, assume, in addition, that  $\phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^d; [0, +\infty))$ . Let  $(\Psi, \mathbf{w}) \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)) \times$  $L^1_{\Psi}([0,T];U)$  be a solution to the optimal control problem (3.5)-(3.6) with U a compact non-empty subset of  $C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$ . Then there exists  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \in AC([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  which solves in distributional sense

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t = -\mathrm{div}_{(x,r)}\left(\left(J\left(\nabla_{\psi}\mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, x))(x, r)\right)\right)\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t\right) & \text{ in } [0, T), \\ \pi_{\#}^1\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t = \Psi_t & \text{ in } [0, T), \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_T = \Psi_T \otimes \delta_0 \in \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^{2d}), \end{cases}$$

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_1(x,\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t,\mathbf{w}(t,x)) \\ \Gamma_2(x,r,\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t,\mathbf{w}(t,x)) \end{pmatrix} = J\left(\nabla_{\psi}\mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t,\mathbf{w}(t,x))(x,r)\right) + \beta(x,r,\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t,\mathbf{w})$$

with  $\mathbb{R}^d \ni (y_1, \ldots, y_d) = y \mapsto \phi(y) \in \mathbb{R}$  and

$$\beta(x, r, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, x)) := \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ \nabla_x^T \mathbf{w}(t, x) [h(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\sigma}_t)r - \nabla_y \phi(\mathbf{w}(t, x))] \end{array}\right).$$

Moreover the following maximality condition holds

$$\mathbf{w}(t, \cdot) \in \operatorname*{argmax}_{\omega \in U} \left\{ \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_t, \omega(x)) \right\} \qquad for \ a.e. \ t \in [0, T].$$

A fundamental remark is that the assumption  $\mathbf{w}(t, \cdot) \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$  for almost every  $t \in$ [0,T] it is very hard to satisfy for mean field optimal control problem as it is well argued in [15]. It follows that Theorem 3.6 is not always applicable. To better compare Theorems 3.5 and 3.6, we briefly discuss the following one-dimensional model case contained in [15, Section 6]:

$$\min_{\omega \in L^1_{\psi}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}; [-M,M])} \left\{ \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\omega(t,x)|^2 \mathrm{d}\psi_t(x) \mathrm{d}t - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |x - \overline{\psi_T}|^2 \mathrm{d}\psi_T(x) \right\}$$
(3.19)

subject to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\psi_t = -\mathrm{div}_x \left(\omega(t, x)\psi_t\right) & \text{in } (0, T], \\ \psi_0 = \frac{1}{2}\chi_{[-1,1]}\mathcal{L}, \end{cases}$$
(3.20)

where  $\overline{\psi_T} := \int_{\mathbb{R}} x \, \mathrm{d}\psi_T(x)$  and  $\lambda, M$  are two positive constants with  $\lambda \leq T$ . In the optimal control problem (3.19)-(3.20) one aims at maximizing the variance at time T > 0 of a measure  $\psi$ , while penalizing the running  $L^2_{\psi}$ -norm of the control.

We fix a sequence of symmetrically distributed empirical measures  $\Psi_0^N := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{\mathbf{x}_{0,i}^N} \in \mathcal{P}^N([-1,1])$  converging narrowly towards  $\frac{1}{2}\chi_{[-1,1]}\mathcal{L}$ . It follows that the finite particle optimal problem associated to (3.19)-(3.20) is

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{u}^{N} \in L^{1}([0,T]; [-M,M]^{N})} \left\{ \frac{\lambda}{2N} \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |u_{i}(t)|^{2} \mathrm{d}t - \frac{1}{2N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |x_{i}(T) - \overline{\boldsymbol{x}(T)}|^{2} \right\}$$
(3.21)

subject to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}x_i(t) = u_i(t) & \text{in } (0,T], \\ x_i(0) = \mathbf{x}_{0,i}^N, \end{cases}$$
(3.22)

with  $\overline{\boldsymbol{x}(T)} := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i(t)$ . Let  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{u}^N)$  be an optimal trajectory-control pair to (3.19)-

(3.20) with generated pairs  $(\Psi^N, \mu^N)$ . Then, by Proposition 3.2 (which applies also in presence of a continuous final cost, since the proof depend only on the convexity of  $\phi$ ), we have that  $\Psi^N$  converges to  $\Psi$  in  $C([0,T];\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}))$  and  $\mu^N$  converges weakly\* to  $\mathbf{w}(t,x)\Psi$ in  $\mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R})$ . Moreover  $(\Psi, \mathbf{w})$  is an optimal trajectory-control to problem (3.19)-(3.20). In [15, Proposition 9] it is proved that, since by assumption  $\lambda \leq T$ , then a uniform Lipschitz constant for the sequence  $\mathfrak{u}^N$  of finite-dimensional optimal controls does not exist. Formally, this implies that the limit control  $\mathbf{w}$  is not smooth making Theorem 3.6 inapplicable. On the other hand, we note that the final cost  $\varphi(\mu) := -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |x - \overline{\mu}|^2 d\mu(x)$ is continuously differentiable in the sense of Definition 2.1 and, by explicit calculation, we have

$$\nabla_{\psi}\varphi(\mu) = -\mathrm{Id}_{\mathbb{R}} + \overline{\mu}.$$

Thus we can apply Theorem 3.5 (with minor modifications for  $\nu_T$  due to the final cost) obtaining that there exists  $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \operatorname{Lip}([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^2))$  which is a solution to the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \boldsymbol{\nu}_t = -\mathrm{div}_{(x,r)} \left( \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{w}(t,x) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nu}_t \right) & \text{in } [0,T], \\ \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t = \Psi_t & \text{in } [0,T], \\ \boldsymbol{\nu}_T = (\mathrm{Id}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathrm{Id}_{\mathbb{R}} - \overline{\Psi_T})_{\#} \Psi_T, \\ \mathbf{w}(t,\cdot) \in \operatorname*{argmax}_{\omega \in L_{\Psi_t}^1(\mathbb{R}^d; [-M,M])} \{ \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \omega(x)) \} & \text{for a.e. } t \in [0,T], \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

where  $\mathcal{H}: \mathcal{P}_b(\mathbb{R}^2) \times \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{H}(\nu,\omega) := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} r\omega(x) \mathrm{d}\nu(x,r) - \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\omega(x)|^2 \mathrm{d}\nu(x,r) & \text{if } \omega \in L^1_{\pi^1_{\#}\nu}(\mathbb{R}^d; [-M, M]), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We conclude by observing as in this simple model case it is clear how system (3.23)is the limit as  $N \to +\infty$  of the classical first order optimality condition for the finite particle problem (3.21)-(3.22), i.e.  $\boldsymbol{\nu}$  is the limit of  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{(\mathbf{x}_i(t), \mathbf{r}_i(t))} \otimes \mathcal{L}_{|[0,T]}$ (see (3.13)) in  $C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^2))$  as  $N \to +\infty$ , where  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathfrak{r}^N, \mathfrak{u}^N) \stackrel{i=1}{\in} AC([0,T]; (\mathbb{R}^2)^N) \times \mathbb{R}^2$ 

 $L^1([0,T]; [-M,M]^N)$  is the solution given by the classical Pontryagin maximum principle to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{x}_i(t) \\ \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_i(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{u}_i(t) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} & \text{in } [0,T), \\ \mathbf{x}_i(0) = \mathbf{x}_{0,i}^N, & \text{for every } i = 1, \dots, N, \\ \mathfrak{r}_i(T) = \mathbf{x}_i(T) - \overline{\mathbf{x}(T)}, & \\ \mathfrak{u}^N(t) \in \underset{\mathbf{u}^N \in [-M,M]^N}{\operatorname{argmax}} \left\{ \mathcal{H}_N(\mathbf{x}^N(t), \mathfrak{r}^N(t), \mathbf{u}^N) \right\} & \text{a.e. } t \in [0,T], \end{cases}$$

where the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_N \colon (\mathbb{R}^2)^N \times [-M, M]^N \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{H}_N(\boldsymbol{x}^N, \boldsymbol{r}^N, \boldsymbol{u}^N) := rac{1}{N}\sum_{k=1}^N r_k u_k - rac{\lambda}{2N}\sum_{k=1}^N |u_k|^2.$$

In Section 5 we will see how our results generalize to the case where the state space is the convex metric space  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}(U)$  equipped with the topology induced from the separable Banach space  $(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{F}(U), |\cdot| + ||\cdot||_{BL})$ , for U a discrete and finite set and if the controls act only on the  $\mathbb{R}^d$  component of the velocity field.

### 4. Proof of the results

To lighten the notation, in all this section, we will denote with **(H)** all the assumptions **(HI)**, **(H**v), **(H**h), **(H**L), **(H** $\phi$ ). Moreover, any time we write  $\|\cdot\|$  we mean the norm of the space of matrices  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ .

We recall that  $\hat{\Psi}_0 \in \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a fixed initial measure and  $\mathbf{x}_0^N \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^N$  is a fixed sequence of initial data satisfying **(HI)**. Moreover, for every optimal trajectory-control pair  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{u}^N) \in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^N) \times \mathcal{K}^N$  for (3.1)-(3.2),  $(\Psi, \mathbf{w}) \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)) \times L^1_{\Psi}([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d; K)$  is the solution to the optimal control problem (3.5)-(3.6) given by Proposition 3.2 and  $\mathbf{r}^N \in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^d)^N)$  the rescaled costate given by Proposition 3.4.

With the aim of proving Theorem 3.5 we give some preliminary lemmas. In the first one we prove that the solution  $(\mathbf{x}_i(t), \mathbf{r}_i(t))$  of system (3.10) is contained in a compact set uniformly in  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Lemma 4.1.** Assume (**H**). Let  $(\mathbf{x}^N, \mathbf{r}^N, \mathbf{u}^N) \in AC([0, T]; (\mathbb{R}^{2d})^N) \times \mathcal{K}^N$  be the solution to (3.10) given by Proposition 3.4. Then there exists  $\mathcal{R} > 0$  depending only on  $\operatorname{supp}(\hat{\Psi}_0)$  and T and independent of N such that

$$\sup_{i=1,\dots,N} \|\mathbf{x}_i\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathbb{R}^d)} + \sup_{i=1,\dots,N} \|\mathbf{r}_i\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathbb{R}^d)} \le \mathcal{R}.$$
(4.1)

Equivalently, it holds that

$$\operatorname{supp}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N) \subseteq B_{\mathcal{R}}(0) \subset \mathbb{R}^{2d} \qquad \forall t \in [0,T] \text{ and } \forall N \in \mathbb{N}.$$

$$(4.2)$$

*Proof.* First we note that, thanks to [1, Proposition 1] and recalling that  $\mathbf{x}_{0,i}^N \in B_1^{\Psi_0}$  for every  $i = 1, \ldots, N$  and for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\sup_{i=1,\dots,N} \|\mathbf{x}_i\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathbb{R}^d)} \le R_1,$$
(4.3)

for some  $R_1 > 0$  dependent on  $\operatorname{supp}(\hat{\Psi}_0)$  and T and independent of N. Therefore, by (3.3), we deduce that  $\operatorname{supp}(\Psi_t^N) \subset B_{R_1}(0) \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  for every  $t \in [0,T]$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . This implies that  $\Psi_t^N$  is a tight and 1-uniformly integrable sequence in  $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Thus, by [6, Proposition 7.1.5], there exists a compact subset  $K_1$  of  $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $\Psi_t^N \in K_1$ for every  $t \in [0, T]$  and for any  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Moreover, by [6, Proposition 5.1.8], up to a subsequence in  $N, K_1 \subset \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Now we focus on  $\mathfrak{r}_i$ . By Lemma 2.3, we have the following identifications:

$$\nabla_{x_i}^T v(\mathbf{x}_k(t), \Psi_t^N) = \frac{1}{N} \nabla_{\psi}^T v(\mathbf{x}_k(t), \Psi_t^N)(\mathbf{x}_i(t)), \qquad N \nabla_{x_i} L(\Psi_t^N) = \nabla_{\psi} L(\Psi_t^N)(\mathbf{x}_i(t))$$

and

$$\nabla_{x_i} h(\mathbf{x}_k(t), \Psi_t^N) = \frac{1}{N} \nabla_{\psi} h(\mathbf{x}_k(t), \Psi_t^N)(\mathbf{x}_i(t)).$$

Hence, it follows from (3.10) and (3.12) that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(t)| &\leq \int_{t}^{T} \|\nabla_{x}^{T} v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})\| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(\tau)| \mathrm{d}\tau + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\nabla_{\psi}^{T} v(\mathbf{x}_{k}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau))\| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{k}(\tau)| \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \int_{t}^{T} |\nabla_{\psi} L(\Psi_{\tau}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau))| \mathrm{d}\tau + \int_{t}^{T} |\nabla_{x} h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(\tau)| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}_{i}(\tau)| \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \int_{t}^{T} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} |\nabla_{\psi} h(\mathbf{x}_{k}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau))| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{k}(\tau)| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}_{k}(\tau)| \mathrm{d}\tau. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.4)$$

Now, since  $\mathbf{u}_i(\tau) \in K$  which is compact in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\Psi^N_{\tau} \in K_1$  which is compact in  $\mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and  $\mathbf{x}_i(\tau) \in B_{R_1}(0)$  which is compact in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  for every  $i = 1, \ldots, N$ , for any  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and for every  $\tau \in [0, T]$ , using the continuity assumptions (Hv)-( $v_3, v_4$ ), (Hh)-( $h_3, h_4$ ) and (HL)-( $L_2$ ), we have for some positive constant M not depending on i, k, N and  $\tau$  that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla_x^T v(\mathbf{x}_i(\tau), \Psi_\tau^N)\| + \|\nabla_\psi^T v(\mathbf{x}_k(\tau), \Psi_\tau^N)(\mathbf{x}_i(\tau))\| + |\nabla_\psi L(\Psi_\tau^N)(\mathbf{x}_i(\tau))| \\ + |\nabla_x h(\mathbf{x}_i(\tau), \Psi_\tau^N)| |\mathbf{u}_i(\tau)| + |\nabla_\psi h(\mathbf{x}_k(\tau), \Psi_\tau^N)(\mathbf{x}_i(\tau))| |\mathbf{u}_k(\tau)| \le M. \end{aligned}$$
(4.5)

Combining (4.4) and (4.5) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{r}_{i}(t)| &\leq M(T-t) + 2M\left(\int_{t}^{T} |\mathbf{r}_{i}(\tau)| \mathrm{d}\tau + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} |\mathbf{r}_{k}(\tau)| \mathrm{d}\tau\right) \\ &\leq M(T-t) + 4M \int_{t}^{T} \sup_{i=1,\dots,N} |\mathbf{r}_{i}(\tau)| \mathrm{d}\tau. \end{aligned}$$

Taking the supremum over  $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$  in the previous inequality and applying Grönwall inequality we deduce for some positive  $R_2 > 0$  depending on M and T and not depending on  $t \in [0, T]$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  that

$$\sup_{i=1,\dots,N} |\mathbf{r}_i(t)| \le R_2 \qquad \forall t \in [0,T].$$

$$(4.6)$$

Thus (4.1) follows immediately from (4.3) and (4.6). Finally, (4.2) is a direct consequence of (4.1) and of the definition of  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N$  (i.e. (3.13)).

In the second one we show that  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^{N}$  defined in (3.13) is Lipschitz continuous in time with uniform Lipschitz constant in  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Lemma 4.2.** Assume (H). Then there exists L not depending on  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$W_1(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N, \boldsymbol{\nu}_s^N) \le L|t-s| \qquad \forall s, t \in [0, T].$$
 (4.7)

*Proof.* By definition of  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N$  (see (3.13)) and by the properties of the Wasserstein distance, it holds that

$$W_1(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N, \boldsymbol{\nu}_s^N) \le \frac{\sqrt{2}}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \left( |\mathbf{x}_i(t) - \mathbf{x}_i(s)| + |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_i(t) - \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_i(s)| \right).$$
(4.8)

First we prove that  $L_1 > 0$  not depending on *i* and *N* exists such that

$$|\mathbf{x}_i(t) - \mathbf{x}_i(s)| \le L_1 |t - s|.$$

$$(4.9)$$

By (3.10) and (3.12) we have

$$|\mathbf{x}_{i}(t) - \mathbf{x}_{i}(s)| \leq \int_{s}^{t} \left( |v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})| + |h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})| |\mathbf{u}_{i}(\tau)| \right) \mathrm{d}\tau.$$

$$(4.10)$$

From the proof of Lemma 4.1, we know that  $\mathbf{u}_i(\tau) \in K$  which is compact in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\Psi_{\tau}^N \in K_1$  which is compact in  $\mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\mathbf{x}_i(\tau) \in B_{R_1}(0)$  which is compact in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  for every  $i = 1, \ldots, N$ , for any  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and for every  $\tau \in [0, T]$ . Since, by assumptions, v and h are continuous, then  $L_1 > 0$  not depending on i, N and  $\tau$  exists such that

$$|v(\mathbf{x}_i(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^N)| + |h(\mathbf{x}_i(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^N)||\mathbf{u}_i(\tau)| \le L_1.$$

The previous inequality combined with (4.10) gives (4.9). Now we focus on the second term on the right-hand side of (4.8). Using again (3.10) and (3.12) and following the proof of Lemma 4.1 (in particular using (4.5)) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(t) - \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(s)| &\leq \int_{s}^{t} \|\nabla_{x}^{T} v(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})\| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(\tau)| d\tau \\ &+ \int_{s}^{t} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\nabla_{\psi}^{T} v(\mathbf{x}_{k}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau))\| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{k}(\tau)| d\tau \\ &+ \int_{s}^{t} |\nabla_{\psi} L(\Psi_{\tau}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau))| d\tau + \int_{t}^{T} |\nabla_{x} h(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{i}(\tau)| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}_{i}(\tau)| d\tau \\ &+ \int_{s}^{t} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} |\nabla_{\psi} h(\mathbf{x}_{k}(\tau), \Psi_{\tau}^{N})(\mathbf{x}_{i}(\tau))| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}_{k}(\tau)| |\mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}_{k}(\tau)| d\tau \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} & (4.1), (4.5) \\ &\leq M(1+4\mathcal{R})|t-s|. \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} (4.11) \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, inserting (4.9) and (4.11) in (4.8), we deduce (4.7).

Thanks to Lemma 4.1 and Lemma 4.2, in the next result we prove that  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^{N}$  (defined by (3.13)) and  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^{N}$  (defined by (3.14)) admit limit and we characterize the limit of  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^{N}$  in terms of the limit of  $\boldsymbol{\mu}^{N}$  (defined by (3.4)).

**Lemma 4.3.** Assume (H). Then the following hold (up to a subsequence):

- (a) there exists  $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in \operatorname{Lip}([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  such that  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N \to \boldsymbol{\nu}$  in  $C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  as  $N \to +\infty;$
- (b) there exists  $\boldsymbol{\rho} \in \mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d};\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N \to \boldsymbol{\rho}$  narrowly in  $\mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d};\mathbb{R}^d)$  as  $N \to +\infty$  with  $\boldsymbol{\rho} = \mathbf{w}(t,x)\boldsymbol{\nu}$ , where  $\mathbf{w}$  is given by Proposition 3.2.

Proof. Proof of (a). By Lemma 4.1, we know that  $\operatorname{supp}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N) \subset B_{\mathcal{R}}(0) \subset \mathbb{R}^{2d}$  for every  $t \in [0, T]$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . This implies that  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N$  is a tight and 1-uniformly integrable sequence in  $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ . Then, by [6, Proposition 7.1.5],  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N$  is relatively compact in  $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$  for every  $t \in [0, T]$ . Moreover, by Lemma 4.2,  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N$  is equi-Lipschitz continuous in t. Thus we can apply the Ascoli-Arzelá theorem, obtaining that there exists  $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  such

that, up to a subsequence,  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N \to \boldsymbol{\nu}$  in  $C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  as  $N \to +\infty$ . The fact that  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_t \in \mathcal{P}_c(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$  for every  $t \in [0,T]$  follows from [6, Proposition 5.1.8] and the Lipschitz continuity of  $\boldsymbol{\nu}$  follows from (4.7) and applying [6, Proposition 7.1.3].

*Proof of (b).* Since  $\mathbf{u}_i(t) \in K$  (compact) for every  $t \in [0, T]$ , we have for some M > 0 that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\rho}^N\|_{\mathcal{M}([0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^{2d};\mathbb{R}^d)} \stackrel{(3.14)}{\leq} \int_0^T \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N |\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{u}}_i(t)| \leq MT.$$

Moreover, by (3.14) and (4.2),  $\operatorname{supp}(\boldsymbol{\rho}^N) \subseteq [0,T] \times B_{\mathcal{R}}(0)$ , which implies that  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N$  is tight in  $\mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Hence, applying Prokhorov theorem, there exists  $\rho \in \mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  $\mathbb{R}^{2d};\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that, up to a subsequence,  $\rho^N$  narrowly converges to  $\rho$  as  $N \to +\infty$ . Thanks to Lemma 3.1 and Lemma 2.4 there exists  $\eta \in L^1_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d};\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $\boldsymbol{\rho} = \eta(t, x, r) \boldsymbol{\nu}.$ 

Finally we prove that  $\boldsymbol{\rho} = \mathbf{w}\boldsymbol{\nu}$ , i.e.  $\eta(t, x, r) = \mathbf{w}(t, x)$  for every  $(t, x, r) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ . This is done in two steps. Let  $\pi^{0,1}: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d} \to [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d$  be the projection defined as  $\pi^{0,1}(t,x,r) = (t,x)$ . Then, as  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N$  converges narrow to  $\boldsymbol{\rho}$  and  $\pi^{0,1}_{\#}\boldsymbol{\rho}^N = \boldsymbol{\mu}^N$ , by [6, Lemma 5.2.1], it holds  $\pi^{0,1}_{\#}\boldsymbol{\rho} = \boldsymbol{\mu} = \mathbf{w}\Psi$ . Similarly we have  $\pi^{0,1}_{\#}\boldsymbol{\nu} = \Psi$ . Applying the Disintegration Theorem (see [6, Theorem 5.3.1]) with respect to  $\Psi = \pi^{0,1}_{\#}\boldsymbol{\nu}$ , we get  $\boldsymbol{\rho} = \eta(t,x,r)\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^x \otimes \Psi$  for  $\Psi$ -a.e.  $(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d$  where  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^x \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . It now holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta(t, x, r) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^x(r) = \mathbf{w}(t, x), \qquad (4.12)$$

hence it is sufficient to show that  $\eta$  does not depend on r. We start noticing that, applying Lemma 3.1 and Lemma 2.4,

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \phi(\mathbf{w}(t,x)) d\Psi_{t}(x) dt = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \phi\left(\frac{d\boldsymbol{\mu}}{d\Psi}\right) d\Psi_{t}(x) dt$$

$$\stackrel{(3.8)}{=} \liminf_{N \to +\infty} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \phi\left(\frac{d\boldsymbol{\mu}^{N}}{d\Psi^{N}}\right) d\Psi_{t}^{N}(x) dt = \liminf_{N \to +\infty} \int_{0}^{T} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \phi(\mathbf{u}_{i}(t)) dt$$

$$\geq \liminf_{N \to +\infty} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \phi\left(\frac{d\boldsymbol{\rho}^{N}}{d\boldsymbol{\nu}^{N}}\right) d\boldsymbol{\nu}_{t}^{N}(x, r) dt \geq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \phi\left(\frac{d\boldsymbol{\rho}}{d\boldsymbol{\nu}}\right) d\boldsymbol{\nu}_{t}(x, r) dt. \quad (4.13)$$

We now proceed in the above inequality, by using Jensen's inequality and the properties of the disintegration, as follows

$$\begin{split} &\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\mathbf{w}(t,x)) \mathrm{d}\Psi_t(x) \mathrm{d}t \stackrel{(4.13)}{\geq} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \phi\left(\eta(t,x,r)\right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t(x,r) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\eta(t,x,r)) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^x(r) \mathrm{d}\Psi_t(x) \mathrm{d}t \geq \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta(t,x,r) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^x(r)\right) \mathrm{d}\Psi_t(x) \mathrm{d}t \\ \stackrel{(4.12)}{=} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\mathbf{w}(t,x)) \mathrm{d}\Psi_t(x) \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Therefore, for  $\Psi$ -a.e.  $(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d$ , the equality case in Jensen's inequality must hold. As  $\phi$  is strictly convex (see  $(\mathbf{H}\phi)$ ), the only possibility is that  $\eta$  does not depend on r which in turn implies, by (4.12), that

$$\eta(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \eta(t,x,r) d\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^x(r) = \mathbf{w}(t,x).$$

Now we are ready to pass the system (3.15) to the limit as  $N \to +\infty$  and to prove our main result.

*Proof of Theorem 3.5.* We start by noting that (a) and (b) in the statement are given directly by Lemma 4.3.

Now we focus on the second and the third equality of system (3.16). Let us recall for the following that if a sequence of measure converges in the Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  then it also converges narrowly. As regards the second equality of (3.16), for every Borel set  $B \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  and for every  $t \in [0, T]$  it holds

$$\pi_{\#}^{1} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{t}^{N}(B) \stackrel{(3.13)}{=} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{t}^{N}(B \times \mathbb{R}^{d}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{(\mathbf{x}_{i}(t), \mathbf{r}_{i}(t))}(B \times \mathbb{R}^{d})$$
$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{\mathbf{x}_{i}(t)}(B) \stackrel{(3.3)}{=} \Psi_{t}^{N}(B).$$
(4.14)

Moreover, by Lemma 4.3 and applying [6, Lemma 5.2.1],  $\pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N$  narrowly converges to  $\pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t$ and, by Proposition 3.2,  $\Psi_t^N$  narrowly converges to  $\Psi_t$  as  $N \to +\infty$ . These convergences together with (4.14) imply that

$$\pi^1_{\#} \boldsymbol{\nu}_t = \Psi_t \quad \text{for every } t \in [0, T].$$

As for the third equality of (3.16), we have

$$\boldsymbol{\nu}_{T}^{N} \stackrel{(3.13)}{=} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{(\mathbf{x}_{i}(T), \mathfrak{r}_{i}(T))} \stackrel{(3.10)}{=} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{(\mathbf{x}_{i}(T), 0)} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{\mathbf{x}_{i}(T)} \otimes \delta_{0} \stackrel{(3.3)}{=} \Psi_{T}^{N} \otimes \delta_{0}.$$

Since, by Lemma 4.3,  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_T^N$  narrowly converges to  $\boldsymbol{\nu}_T$  and, by Proposition 3.2,  $\Psi_T^N$  narrowly converges to  $\Psi_T$  as  $N \to +\infty$ , it follows from the previous equality that

$$\boldsymbol{\nu}_T = \Psi_T \otimes \delta_0.$$

Now we prove that  $\boldsymbol{\nu}$  solves the continuity equation in (3.16) in the sense of distributions. Thanks to (3.15) and by (3.13), for every test function  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^{2d})$  we have that, for every  $t \in [0,T]$ ,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \varphi(t,x,r) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{t}^{N}(x,r) = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \partial_{t} \varphi(\tau,x,r) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r) \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{x} \varphi(\tau,x,r), v(x,\Psi_{\tau}^{N}) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r) \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{x} \varphi(\tau,x,r), h(x,\Psi_{\tau}^{N}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r) \rangle \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &- \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau,x,r), \nabla_{x}^{T} v(x,\Psi_{\tau}^{N})[r] \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N} \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &- \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau,x,r), \nabla_{\psi}^{T} v(\tilde{x},\Psi_{\tau}^{N})(x)[\tilde{r}] \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x},\tilde{r}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r) \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau,x,r), \nabla_{\psi} L(\Psi_{\tau}^{N})(x) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r) \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &- \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau,x,r), \nabla_{x} h(x,\Psi_{\tau}^{N}) \rangle \langle r, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r) \rangle \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &- \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau,x,r), \nabla_{x} h(x,\Psi_{\tau}^{N}) \rangle \langle r, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r) \rangle \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &- \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau,x,r), \nabla_{x} h(x,\Psi_{\tau}^{N}) \rangle \langle r, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r) \rangle \mathrm{d}\tau \end{split}$$

$$-\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}}\langle \nabla_{r}\varphi(\tau,x,r),\nabla_{\psi}h(\tilde{x},\Psi_{\tau}^{N})(x)\rangle\langle\tilde{r},\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x},\tilde{r})\rangle\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x,r)\mathrm{d}\tau.$$
 (4.15)

Since, by Lemma 4.3,  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N \to \boldsymbol{\nu}$  in  $C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  and  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N \to \boldsymbol{\rho} = \mathbf{w}(t,x)\boldsymbol{\nu}$  narrowly in  $\mathcal{M}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{2d}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  as  $N \to +\infty$ , the integral on the left-hand side and the first integral on the right-hand side of (4.15) immediately pass to the limit. For all other integrals on the right-hand side of (4.15) we follow the same technique to pass to the limit as  $N \to +\infty$ . In light of this fact, for brevity, we deal with only the last integral on the right-hand side (which contains a double integration). To do this, we define  $\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau} := \mathbf{w}(\tau, \cdot)\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau} \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  and we estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau, x, r), \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau}^{N})(x) \rangle \langle \tilde{r}, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x, r) \mathrm{d}\tau \right. \\ \left. - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau, x, r), \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau})(x) \rangle \langle \tilde{r}, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}(x, r) \mathrm{d}\tau \right| \\ \left. \leq \left| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{4d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau, x, r), \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau}^{N})(x) - \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau})(x) \rangle \langle \tilde{r}, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x, r) \mathrm{d}\tau \right| \\ \left. + \left| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{4d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau, x, r), \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau})(x) \rangle \langle \tilde{r}, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x, r) - \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}(x, r) \rangle \mathrm{d}\tau \right| \\ \left. =: I_{1}^{N} + I_{2}^{N}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.16)$$

First we focus on  $I_1^N$ . We have

$$I_1^N \le \int_0^t |G^N(\tau)| \mathrm{d}\tau,$$

where

$$G^{N}(\tau) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{4d}} \langle \nabla_{r} \varphi(\tau, x, r), \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau}^{N})(x) - \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau})(x) \rangle \langle \tilde{r}, \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \rangle \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x, r).$$

We recall that, by Lemma 4.1,  $\operatorname{supp}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}) \stackrel{(3.14)}{=} \operatorname{supp}(\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}) \subseteq B_{\mathcal{R}}(0) \subset \mathbb{R}^{2d}$  and  $\Psi_{\tau}^{N} \subset K_{1}$ where  $K_{1}$  is a compact subset of  $\mathcal{P}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , for every  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\tau \in [0, T]$ . Hence,  $\nabla_{\psi}h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau})(x)$  is continuous on a compact subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathcal{P}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \times \mathbb{R}^{d}$  and there exists  $\omega : [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty]$  modulus of continuity with  $\lim_{s \to 0^{+}} \omega(s) = 0$  such that

$$|\nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau}^{N})(x) - \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau})(x)| \leq \omega \left( W_{1}(\Psi_{\tau}^{N}, \Psi_{\tau}) \right).$$

It follows from definition of  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N$  and  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N$  (i.e. (3.14)-(3.13)) and since  $\mathfrak{u} \in [-M, M]^N$  for some M > 0, that

$$|G^{N}(\tau)| \leq \|\nabla_{r}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^{2d})} \mathcal{R}M\omega\left(W_{1}(\Psi_{\tau}^{N},\Psi_{\tau})\right)$$

which, using that, by Proposition 3.2,  $\Psi^N_{\tau} \to \Psi_{\tau}$  in  $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , implies

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} G^N(\tau) = 0 \qquad \text{a.e. } \tau \in [0, T].$$

This fact, noting that  $G^N(\tau)$  is uniformly bounded in [0,T] and applying the Lebesgue theorem, leads to

$$0 \le \lim_{N \to +\infty} I_1^N \le \lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_0^t |G^N(\tau)| d\tau = 0.$$

$$(4.17)$$

We are left to prove that  $I_2^N \to 0$  as  $N \to +\infty$ . We notice that, since  $\Psi \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^d))$ and by **(H)**, we have

$$\langle \nabla_r \varphi(\tau, x, r), \nabla_{\psi} h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_{\tau})(x) \rangle \tilde{r} \in C([0, T] \times B_{\mathcal{R}}(0) \times B_{\mathcal{R}}(0); \mathbb{R}^d).$$

Hence, using the density of the linear span of test functions of the form  $\varphi(\tau, x, r, \tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) = \alpha(\tau)\theta(x,r)\beta(\tilde{x},\tilde{r})$  in  $C([0,T] \times B_{\mathcal{R}}(0) \times B_{\mathcal{R}}(0))$  with  $\alpha \in C([0,T]), \ \theta \in C(B_{\mathcal{R}}(0))$  and  $\beta \in \operatorname{Lip}(B_{\mathcal{R}}(0))$ , it is enough to show that for every  $\alpha \in C([0,T]), \ \theta \in C(B_{\mathcal{R}}(0))$  and  $\beta \in \operatorname{Lip}(B_{\mathcal{R}}(0))$  it holds

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{4d}} \alpha(\tau) \beta(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \theta(x, r) d\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^N(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) d\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^N(x, r) d\tau$$
$$= \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{4d}} \alpha(\tau) \beta(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \theta(x, r) d\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) d\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}(x, r) d\tau .$$
(4.18)

By simple algebraic manipulations, we write

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{4d}} \alpha(\tau) \beta(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \theta(x, r) d\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) d\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N}(x, r) d\tau \qquad (4.19)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \alpha(\tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \theta(x, r) d(\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^{N} - \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau})(x, r) \right) \beta(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) d\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) d\tau + \int_{0}^{t} \alpha(\tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \theta(x, r) d\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}(x, r) \right) \beta(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) d\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^{N}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) d\tau .$$

For the first term on the right-hand side of (4.19), by uniform convergence of  $\nu_{\tau}^{N}$  to  $\nu_{\tau}$  in the 1-Wasserstein distance and recalling that K is compact in  $\mathbb{R}^{d}$ , we get for some M > 0 that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \int_0^t \alpha(\tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \theta(x, r) \mathrm{d}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^N - \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau})(x, r) \right) \beta(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_{\tau}^N(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \mathrm{d}\tau \qquad (4.20)$$
$$\leq \lim_{N \to \infty} MT \mathrm{Lip}(\theta) \|\alpha\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T])} \|\beta\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\mathcal{R}}(0))} \sup_{\tau \in [0,T]} W_1(\boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}^N, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{\tau}) = 0.$$

Since  $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  and  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N$  converges narrow to  $\boldsymbol{\rho}$ , passing to the limit in (4.19) and using (4.20), we obtain (4.18). Consequently, we deduce that

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} I_2^N = 0,$$

which in turn implies, together with (4.16) and (4.17), that

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_r \varphi(\tau, x, r), \nabla_\psi h(\tilde{x}, \Psi^N_\tau)(x) \rangle \langle \tilde{r}, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}^N_\tau(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}^N_\tau(x, r) \mathrm{d}\tau$$
$$= \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle \nabla_r \varphi(\tau, x, r), \nabla_\psi h(\tilde{x}, \Psi_\tau)(x) \rangle \langle \tilde{r}, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_\tau(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_\tau(x, r) \mathrm{d}\tau.$$

Repeating the same argument for the other integrals on the right-hand side of (4.15), we conclude that  $\nu$  is a distributional solution to (3.16).

Finally, in order to get the maximality condition, we start by taking  $\omega \in \operatorname{Lip}(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$ . We define  $\boldsymbol{u}^N$  with components  $u_i(t) := \omega(\mathbf{x}_i(t))$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, N$  and  $t \in [0, T]$ . Applying Proposition 3.4 in the inequality below and using the definition of  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N$  and  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N$  (see (3.14) and (3.13) respectively), we obtain for any  $[t_1, t_2] \subseteq [0, T]$ 

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathcal{H}_N(\mathbf{x}^N(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}^N(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}^N(t)) dt \ge \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathcal{H}_N(\mathbf{x}^N(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}^N(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}^N(t)) dt$$

$$\stackrel{(3.18),(3.11)}{=} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathcal{H}\left(\mathbf{\nu}_t^N, \omega\right) dt. \tag{4.21}$$

We want to pass to the limit in (4.21) as  $N \to +\infty$ . First we focus on the right-hand side. By definition of  $\mathcal{H}$  (see (3.18)), since  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N$  converges to  $\boldsymbol{\nu}$  in  $C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$  and

 $\operatorname{supp}(\boldsymbol{\nu}^N) \subseteq [0,T] \times B_{\mathcal{R}}(0)$  (see Lemma 4.1), using the continuity assumption on L and the fact that  $\phi(\omega) \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$  it follows that

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} L(\pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N) dt = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} L(\pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t) dt$$
(4.22)

and

N

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \phi(\omega(x)) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N(x, r) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \phi(\omega(x)) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t(x, r) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(4.23)

Moreover, arguing as done to estimate (4.16) (which is possible since  $\operatorname{supp}(\boldsymbol{\nu})$  is compact and  $\omega$  is continuous) we deduce

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle r, v(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N) + h(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N) \omega(x) \rangle d\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N(x, r) dt$$
$$= \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle r, v(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t) + h(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t) \omega(x) \rangle d\boldsymbol{\nu}_t(x, r) dt.$$
(4.24)

In the same way, leveraging on the narrow convergence of  $\boldsymbol{\nu}^N$  to  $\boldsymbol{\nu}$  and of  $\boldsymbol{\rho}^N$  to  $\mathbf{w}\boldsymbol{\nu}$  given by Lemma 4.3, we have

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle r, v(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N(x, r) + \langle r, h(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\rho}_t^N(x, r) \rangle \right) \mathrm{d}t$$
$$= \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \langle r, v(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t) + h(x, \pi_{\#}^1 \boldsymbol{\nu}_t) \mathbf{w}(t, x) \rangle \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t(x, r) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(4.25)

Now, recalling the definition of  $\mathcal{H}$  and of  $\mathcal{H}_N$  (see (3.18) and (3.11)), combining (4.24), (4.22) and (4.23) for the last term on right-hand side of (4.21) and using (4.25), (4.22) and (3.9) for the first term on the left-hand side of (4.21), we infer that

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, \cdot)) \, \mathrm{d}t = \lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathcal{H}_N(\mathbf{x}^N(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}^N(t), \mathbf{\mathfrak{u}}^N(t)) \, \mathrm{d}t$$
$$\geq \lim_{N \to +\infty} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t^N, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}t,$$

for every  $\omega \in \operatorname{Lip}(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$  and for every  $t_1, t_2 \in [0, T]$ . By arbitrariness of  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  in [0, T] and applying the Lebesgue differentiation theorem we conclude that for every  $\omega \in \operatorname{Lip}(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$ 

$$\mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, \cdot)) \ge \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \omega) \quad \text{for a.e. } t \in [0, T].$$
(4.26)

Note that, by (3.18) and since  $\boldsymbol{\nu} \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$ , every  $t \in [0,T]$  is a Lebesgue point of  $\mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \omega)$ . Therefore (4.26) holds at every Lebesgue point of  $\mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_t, \mathbf{w}(t, \cdot))$ , in particular such points depend only on  $\mathbf{w}$ .

Finally, by density of  $\operatorname{Lip}(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$  in  $L^1_{\pi^1_{\#}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t}(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$  and recalling that K is compact, we deduce that (4.26) holds for every  $\omega \in L^1_{\pi^1_{\#}\boldsymbol{\nu}_t}(\mathbb{R}^d; K)$ , which in turn implies (3.17).  $\Box$ 

### 5. Generalization to optimal control problems with convex state space

In this section we briefly discuss how to generalize the setting presented above in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  to the convex constrained framework introduced in [5,28] for modelling multi-agent multilabel systems. In this case, the state variable is a pair  $(x, \lambda) \in C := \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}(U)$ , where  $\mathcal{P}(U)$  is the space of probability measure on a finite set of pure strategies U. The agents' state is therefore described by their position x and by their mixed strategy  $\lambda$ . We denote by  $c = (x, \lambda)$  the generic element of C. In the following two examples, inspired by [2, Section 5] and [3,28], we point out how the analysis performed above can be adapted by replacing usual gradients in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with the notion of *C*-differentiability, reported here.

**Definition 5.1.** Let  $(E, \|\cdot\|_E)$  and  $(F, \|\cdot\|_F)$  be two normed spaces,  $C \subseteq E$  a closed convex subset of E, and  $f: C \to F$ . We say that f is C-differentiable in  $c \in C$  if there exists a linear operator  $D_c f \in \mathcal{L}(E_C; F)$  such that

$$\lim_{C \ni c' \to c} \frac{f(c') - f(c) - \mathcal{D}_c f[c' - c]}{\|c' - c\|_E} = 0.$$

5.1. Control of multi-population systems. In multi-population systems, the space dynamics of each agent is coupled with a transition process for the label  $\lambda$ , describing how agents may switch the population they belong to. Such process is modelled by means of reversible Markov chains on n states (cf. [25, 26]).

For simplicity, we identify the set of labels U with the canonical base of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , i.e.,  $U = \{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$ , and endow U with the distance

$$0 = d_U(e_i, e_i) \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n, \qquad 1 = d_U(e_i, e_j) \text{ for } i \neq j.$$
(5.1)

The space of probability measures  $\mathcal{P}(U)$  is identified with the closed (n-1)-simplex

$$\Lambda_n := \left\{ \lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n : \lambda_i \ge 0, \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i = 1 \right\}.$$

The state space is represented by the convex subset  $C = \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}(U) \sim \mathbb{R}^d \times \Lambda_n$  of  $E = \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{F}(U)$ , where  $\mathcal{F}(U)$  is the *Aerens-Eelles* space (see [5, Section 2.1] and [8]). We notice that

$$E_C = \overline{\mathbb{R}(C-C)} = \mathbb{R}^d \times \{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}(U) : \, \mu(U) = 0 \}$$

Since  $\mathcal{P}(U)$  is identified with  $\Lambda_n$ ,  $E_C$  may be represented by  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^n_0$ , where

$$\mathbb{R}_0^n := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i = 0 \right\}.$$

In particular, we notice that E is a finite dimensional space, and thus a separable, reflexive, and locally compact Banach space.

Given a compact, convex set of admissible controls  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  with  $0 \in K$ , we consider  $\mathcal{K} := L^1([0,T];K)$  and set up the control problem

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{u}^{N}\in\mathcal{K}^{N}}\left\{\int_{0}^{T}L(\psi_{t}^{N})\mathrm{d}t+\int_{0}^{T}\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\phi(u_{i}(t))\mathrm{d}t\right\}$$
(5.2)

where  $\psi_t^N := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{(x_i(t),\lambda_i(t))}$  and  $c_i = (x_i, \lambda_i)$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}x_{i}(t) = v(c_{i}(t),\psi_{t}^{N}) + h(c_{i}(t),\psi_{t}^{N})u_{i}(t) & \text{in } (0,T], \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\lambda_{i}(t) = \mathcal{T}(c_{i}(t),\psi_{t}^{N}) & \text{in } (0,T], & \text{for } i = 1,\dots,N, \\ x_{i}(0) = \mathbf{x}_{0,i}^{N}, \quad \lambda_{i}(0) = \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{0,i}^{N} \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

where  $\mathcal{T}(c,\psi) := \mathcal{Q}(x,\psi)\lambda$  for a matrix-valued map  $\mathcal{Q}: \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_1(C) \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  satisfying the following:

 $(\mathcal{Q}_0)$  for every  $(x,\psi) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_1(C)$  and every  $i, j = 1, \ldots, n, \ \mathcal{Q}_{ij}(x,\psi) \ge 0$  for  $i \neq j$ , and  $\mathcal{Q}_{ii}(x,\psi) = -\sum_{j\neq i} \mathcal{Q}_{ji}(x,\psi);$   $(\mathcal{Q}_1)$  for every  $(x, \psi) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_1(C)$ ,  $\mathcal{Q}(x, \psi)$  is *reversible*, that is, there exists a unique  $\sigma = \sigma(x, \psi) \in \Lambda_n$  such that

$$Q_{ij}(x,\psi)\sigma_j = Q_{ji}(x,\psi)\sigma_i$$
 for every  $i, j = 1, \dots, n$ ,

together with local Lipschitz continuity, linear growth and differentiability conditions similar to (**Hv**) and (**Hh**). We refer to [2, Section 5.1] for explicit examples of the fields  $v_{\psi}$ , h, Q, L, and  $\phi$  above, together with a discussion concerning their C-differentiability and Wasserstein differentials in the case n = 2, which can be easily extended to any  $n \geq 2$ . In particular, continuity of C- and Wasserstein differentials is discussed, which is part of the assumptions (**Hv**).

Existence of optimal controls for (5.2)–(5.3) has been studied in [1], together with the variational convergence for a diverging number of particles N to the following mean-field optimal control problem

$$\min_{\omega \in L^1_{\psi}([0,T] \times C;K)} \left\{ \int_0^T L(\psi_t) \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(\omega(t,c)) \mathrm{d}\psi_t(c) \mathrm{d}t \right\}$$
(5.4)

subjected to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\psi_t = -\mathrm{div}\Big((v(c,\psi_t),\mathcal{T}(x,\psi_t))\psi + (h(c,\psi_t)\omega(t,c)),0)\psi_t\Big) & \text{in } (0,T],\\ \psi_0 = \hat{\Psi}_0\,, \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

for  $\hat{\Psi}_0 \in \mathcal{P}_c(C)$  limit of  $\psi_0^N$  in the 1-Wasserstein distance. We refer to [1, Theorem 2 and Corollary 1] for the precise statement, in the spirit of Proposition 3.2. Optimality conditions in Pontryagin form for (5.2)–(5.3) in the case of smooth optimal controls have been obtained in [2, Theorem 3.5], relying on the notion of *C*-differentiability of Definition 5.1. Hinging on the finite dimensional nature of the state space  $C \subseteq E$ , the results contained in Theorem 3.5 can be repeated verbatim for the control problem (5.4)– (5.5), replacing space gradients with *C*-differentials (cf. Definition 5.1). Notice that the curve  $\boldsymbol{\nu}$  belongs to  $\operatorname{Lip}([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_1(C \times E_C^*))$  and  $\boldsymbol{\rho} \in \mathcal{M}([0,T] \times C \times E_C^*; \mathbb{R}^d)$  in this setting, where  $E_C^*$  denotes the dual space to  $E_C$ .

5.2. Entropy regularized replicator dynamics. The second class of examples we consider in multi-label systems is that entropy regularised replicator dynamics, inspired by [3, 10] and [2, Section 5.2] (see also [21, 27, 31]). As in Section 5.1, we consider the set of labels  $U = \{e_1, \ldots, e_n\} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  endowed with the metric (5.1). We fix a probability measure  $\eta \in \mathcal{P}(U)$  with  $\operatorname{supp}(\eta) = U$ , and  $p \in (1, +\infty)$ , and define  $E := \mathbb{R}^d \times L^p_{\eta}(U)$ , where

$$L^p_{\eta}(U) := \left\{ \lambda \colon U \to \mathbb{R} \colon \int_U |\lambda(u)|^p \, \mathrm{d}\eta(u) < +\infty \right\}$$

The space E is endowed with the norm  $\|\cdot\|_E = |\cdot| + \|\cdot\|_p$ , where  $\|\cdot\|_p$  denotes the  $L^p$ -norm of  $L^p_{\eta}(U)$ . Since U is finite, E is a finite dimensional Banach space, and thus separable, reflexive, and locally compact. We further remark that, being  $\operatorname{supp}(\eta) = U, \eta$  is a sum of deltas and  $\|\cdot\|_p$  is a weighted version of the standard p-norm of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

For  $0 < r < R < +\infty$  we set

$$C_{r,R} := \mathbb{R}^d \times \bigg\{ \lambda \in L^p_\eta(U) : r \le \lambda(u) \le R \text{ for } \eta \text{-a.e. } u \in U \text{ and } \int_U |\lambda(u)|^p \mathrm{d}\eta(u) = 1 \bigg\}.$$

In particular,  $C_{r,R}$  is a convex and closed subset of E. We denote by  $c = (x, \lambda)$  the elements of  $C_{r,R}$  and consider the set of controls  $\mathcal{K} := L^1([0,T];K)$  as in Section 5.1.

For every  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , let us consider the finite particle control problem (5.2)–(5.3), where  $\mathcal{T}(c, \psi) := \mathcal{S}(c, \psi) + \varepsilon \mathcal{R}(\lambda)$  for  $\varepsilon > 0$ , where for every  $\psi \in \mathcal{P}(C_{r,R})$  we have set

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}(c,\psi) &:= \left( \int_{C_{r,R}} J(x,\cdot,x') \,\mathrm{d}\psi(x',\lambda') - \int_{U} \int_{C_{r,R}} J(x,u',x') \,\lambda(u') \,\mathrm{d}\psi(x',\lambda') \,\mathrm{d}\eta(u') \right) \lambda, \\ \mathcal{R}(\lambda) &:= \left( \int_{U} \lambda(u) \,\log(\lambda(u)) \,\mathrm{d}\eta(u) - \log(\lambda) \right) \lambda. \end{aligned}$$

for a Lipschitz continuous payoff function  $J: \mathbb{R}^d \times U \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ . Well-posedness of (5.3) in  $C_{r,R}$  for a given set of controls  $\boldsymbol{u}^N$  is contained in [3]. The *C*- and Wasserstein differentiability of  $\mathcal{S}$  and  $\mathcal{R}$  have been discussed in [2, Section 5.2] under differentiability assumptions on the payoff function J with respect to x and x'. The continuity of such differentials follows from the continuity of  $\nabla_x J$  and  $\nabla_{x'} J$ . Arguing as in Proposition 3.2, also in this case we may recover the mean-field optimal control problem (5.4)–(5.5) as variational limit of (5.2)–(5.3). Finally, the optimality conditions and the convergences discussed in Theorem 3.5 can be deduced, still relying on the local compactness of Eand  $E_C^*$  (recall they are both finite dimensional spaces).

#### Acknowledgements

The work of S. Almi was funded by the FWF Austrian Science Fund through the Project 10.55776/P35359 and by the University of Naples Federico II through FRA Project "ReSinApas".

R. Durastanti has been supported by the Italian Ministry of University and Research under PON "Ricerca e Innovazione" 2014-2020 (PON R&I, D.M. 1062/21) - AZIONE IV.6 "Contratti di Ricerca su tematiche Green" CUP E65F21003200003, and, his work has been carried out in collaboration with CRdC Tecnologie Scarl as part of the "Embodied Social Experiences in Hybrid Shared Spaces (SHARESPACE)" project - http://sharespa ce.eu funded by the European Union under Horizon Europe, grant number 101092889.

The work of R. Durastanti and F. Solombrino has been also supported by Gruppo Nazionale per l'Analisi Matematica, la Probabilità e le loro Applicazioni (GNAMPA-INdAM, Project 2024 "Problemi di controllo ottimo nello spazio di Wasserstein delle misure definite su spazi di Banach", CUP E53C23001670001). The work of S. Almi is supported by Gruppo Nazionale per l'Analisi Matematica, la Probabilità e le loro Applicazioni (GNAMPA-INdAM, Project 2025: DISCOVERIES - Difetti e Interfacce in Sistemi Continui: un'Ottica Variazionale in Elasticità con Risultati Innovativi ed Efficaci Sviluppi).

The work of F. Solombrino and S. Almi is part of the MUR - PRIN 2022, project Variational Analysis of Complex Systems in Materials Science, Physics and Biology, No. 2022HKBF5C, funded by European Union NextGenerationEU.

#### References

- G. ALBI, S. ALMI, M. MORANDOTTI, AND F. SOLOMBRINO, Mean-field selective optimal control via transient leadership, Appl. Math. Optim., 85 (2022), Paper No. 9.
- [2] S. ALMI, R. DURASTANTI AND F. SOLOMBRINO, A Pontryagin Maximum Principle for agent-based models with convex state space, ESAIM: Control Optim. Calc. Var., doi.org/10.1051/cocv/2025025.
- [3] S. ALMI, C. D'ERAMO, M. MORANDOTTI, AND F. SOLOMBRINO, Mean-field limits for entropic multi-population dynamical systems, Milan J. Math, 91 (2023), pp. 175–212.

- [4] S. ALMI, M. MORANDOTTI, AND F. SOLOMBRINO, A multi-step Lagrangian scheme for spatially inhomogeneous evolutionary games, J. Evol. Equ., 21 (2021), pp. 2691–2733.
- [5] L. AMBROSIO, M. FORNASIER, M. MORANDOTTI, AND F. SAVARÉ, Spatially inhomogeneous evolutionary games, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 74 (2021), pp. 1353–1402.
- [6] L. AMBROSIO, N. GIGLI, AND G. SAVARÉ, Gradient flows in metric spaces and in the space of probability measures, 2nd edn. Lectures in Mathematics ETH Zürich. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel (2008).
- [7] L. AMBROSIO AND D. TREVISAN, Well-posedness of Lagrangian flows and continuity equations in metric measure spaces, Anal. PDE, 7 (2014), pp. 1179–1234.
- [8] L. AMBROSIO AND D. PUGLISI, Linear extension operators between spaces of Lipschitz maps and optimal transport, J. Reine Angew. Math., 764 (2020), pp. 1–21.
- [9] C. BERTUCCI AND P.-L. LIONS, An approximation of the squared Wasserstein distance and an application to Hamilton-Jacobi equations, arXiv:2409.11793, (2024).
- [10] M. BONAFINI, M. FORNASIER, AND B. SCHMITZER, *Data-driven entropic spatially inhomogeneous evolutionary games*, European J. Appl. Math., 34 (2023), pp. 106–159.
- [11] M. BONGINI, M. FORNASIER, F. ROSSI, AND F. SOLOMBRINO, Mean field Pontryagin Maximum Principle, J. Optim. Theory Appl., 175 (2017), no. 1, pp. 1–38.
- [12] B. BONNET, A Pontryagin Maximum Principle in Wasserstein spaces for constrained optimal control problems, ESAIM: Control Optim. Calc. Var., 25(52) (2019), article n. 52.
- [13] B. BONNET, C. CIPRIANI, M. FORNASIER, AND H. HUANG, A measure theoretical approach to the mean-field maximum principle for training NeurODEs, Nonlinear Anal., 227 (2023), Paper No. 113161.
- [14] B. BONNET AND H. FRANKOWSKA, Necessary optimality conditions for optimal control problems in Wasserstein spaces, Appl. Math. Optim. 84 (2021), pp. 1281–1330.
- [15] B. BONNET AND F. ROSSI, Intrinsic Lipschitz regularity of mean-field optimal controls, SIAM J. Control Optim., 59 (2021), pp. 2011–2046.
- [16] B. BONNET AND F. ROSSI, *The Pontryagin Maximum Principle in the Wasserstein space*, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 58 (2019), Paper No. 11.
- [17] A. BRESSAN AND B. PICCOLI, Introduction to the Mathematical Theory of Control, AIMS on Applied Math. Vol. 2, 2007.
- [18] M. BURGER, R. PINNAU, C. TOTZECK, AND O. TSE, Mean-field optimal control and optimality conditions in the space of probability measures, SIAM J. Control Optim., 59 (2021), pp. 977–1006.
- [19] M. BURGER, R. PINNAU, C. TOTZECK, O. TSE, AND A. ROTH, Instantaneous control of interacting particle systems in the mean-field limit, J. Comput. Phys., 405 (2020), p. 109181.
- [20] G. CAVAGNARI, S. LISINI, C. ORRIERI, AND G. SAVARÉ, Lagrangian, Eulerian and Kantorovich formulations of multi-agent optimal control problems: equivalence and gamma-convergence, J. Differential Equations, 322 (2022), pp. 268–364.
- [21] F.A.C.C. CHALUB, AND M.O. SOUZA, The frequency-dependent Wright-Fisher model: diffusive and non-diffusive approximations, J. Math. Biol., 68 (2014), pp. 1089–1133.

- [22] B. DÜRING, P. MARKOWICH, J.-F. PIETSCHMANN, AND M.-T. WOLFRAM, Boltzmann and Fokker-Planck equations modelling opinion formation in the presence of strong leaders, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci., 465 (2009), pp. 3687–3708.
- [23] M. FORNASIER, S. LISINI, C. ORRIERI, AND G. SAVARÉ, Mean-field optimal control as gammalimit of finite agent controls, European J. Appl. Math., 30 (2019), pp. 1153–1186.
- [24] S. LISINI, Characterization of absolutely continuous curves in Wasserstein spaces, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 28 (2007), pp. 85–120.
- [25] J. MAAS, Gradient flows of the entropy for finite Markov chains, J. Funct. Anal., 261 (2011), pp. 2250–2292.
- [26] A. MIELKE, Geodesic convexity of the relative entropy in reversible Markov chains, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 48 (2013), pp. 1–31.
- [27] M. MORANDOTTI, AND G. ORLANDO, Replicator dynamics as the large population limit of a discrete Moran process in the weak selection regime: a proof via Eulerian specification, arXiv:2501.12688 (2025).
- [28] M. MORANDOTTI AND F. SOLOMBRINO, Mean-field analysis of multipopulation dynamics with label switching, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 52 (2020), pp. 1427–1462.
- [29] S.K. SMIRNOV, Decomposition of solenoidal vector charges into elementary solenoids, and the structure of normal one-dimensional flows, Algebra i Analiz, 5 (1993), pp. 206–238.
- [30] G. TOSCANI, Kinetic models of opinion formation, Commun. Math. Sci., 4 (2006), pp. 481–496.
- [31] A. TRAULSEN, J.C. CLAUSSEN, AND C. HAUERT, Coevolutionary dynamics in large, but finite populations, Physical Review E, 74 (2006), p. 011901.